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Asa Gray Garden

On the first map prepared for the new Cemetery in 1831, the area just west of
the Entrance was depicted as a pond. In 1859 Cemetery president Jacob Bigelow
described the situation: " Formerly, a continuous flow of water took place from
Wyeth's Meadow, lying north of the main road, across the road [now Mount
Auburn Street] into what is now called the Lawn, and thence across what is now
Central Avenue, into Garden Pond." Today only a portion of Bigelow's Garden
Pond remains as Halcyon Lake, but the area once known as the Lawn is now Asa
Gray Garden. This special spot, so near the Entrance, has for over 140 years
been treated as an ornamental showplace, demonstrating the horticultural
interests and expertise of the times. This article traces the history of this Garden.

During the 1840-1850s, the Lawn area is not mentioned in the many
guidebooks published extolling the beauties of the Cemetery. These
guidebooks directed visitors away from the entrance area and up Central
Avenue, toward the Bowditch statute and the Chapel on the hill, perhaps
noting the monument of famed phrenologist Spurzheim along the way.
In 1853 the Cemetery constructed a well house just to the east of the
Entrance Gate. This decorative wooden building had a new well, a pump
and even seats for the comfort of visitors. The Trustees then turned their
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Figure 1. A section of the Lawn, looking toward Bigelow Chapel, bordered by family tombs bm'h' in the 1850s. Circa 1860.
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Figure 2. “View from the Lawn" Illustration from
Bigelow's History of the Cemetery of Mount Auburn,
1860, reprinted by Applewood Books, 1988.

attention to the area just to the west of the Entrance.
On September 4, 1854, they named a new avenue "in
the rear of the Chapel," Lawn Avenue, They also
directed that "the land thereabouts be laid out as per
the plan by Mr. Wadsworth." In the following years,
the area by Lawn Avenue was drained and filled.
By the 1850s most of the best burial land in the
Cemetery was in use, and the Trustees began to
consider new spaces. In 1858 they encouraged the
use of hillsides for tombs by eliminating a previous
surcharge meant to discourage tomb construction.
Several handsome family tombs were built along
Lawn Avenue in the hillside beneath the Chapel.
Books published in the 1860s featured several of
these new tombs (Figure 2). In Mount Auburn: Its
Scenes, Its Beauties and Its Lessons (1861), author
Wilson Flagg praised the Leland family tomb. It was
"simple, durable, sensible and without ostentation” -
all virtues in his eyes. Newspaper accounts also
raved about the architecture of one of the other
impressive tombs built along Lawn Avenue. It was
built for Joseph Whall in 1858 from a design by
noted architect Hammatt Billings. This handsome
tomb was featured in 19th-century photographs.
(The Whall tomb is seen at the far right in Figure 1.)
Today's visitors will look for it in vain, for it was
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removed by the Cemetery in 1940 with the
permission of the descendants. Decades of wear had
damaged the structure, and the tastes of the 1930s no
longer found it attractive. The commanding Phillips
monument, a massive sarcophagus embellished with
carved neo-Egyptian heads, also designed by
Hammett Billings working with Gridley J. F. Bryant,
does remain on Lawn Avenue (Figure 3).

Following the construction of these impressive
structures along Lawn Avenue, the work of draining
and filling the pond began. A large stone culvert or
drain was constructed leading from the upper end of
the Lawn area to an outlet in Auburn Lake. A new
avenue, "Culvert Avenue," was laid out directly over
this long drain. The Annual Report for 1860 noted:
"The effect of this drain is to prevent inundation, and
eventually to redeem for the Cemelery, several areas
of central and valuable land." In 1863 this avenue
was renamed Fountain Avenue at the request of
Charles R. Lowell whose lot was situated on it.

The newly-drained land was filled and its surface
raised by a foot and covered with loam and grass.
The intent was to keep this area open for ornamental
purposes, giving a view of the Chapel from the road.

The Fountain

In the 1860 Annual Report Bigelow wrote: "The
introduction into the grounds of fresh running
water, and the construction of fountains in suitable
parts of the Cemetery, has long been thought a
desirable object by the Trustees, and as they believe,
by a majority of the Proprietors. Such fountains exist
in various Cemeteries in the United States, and are
among the highest ornaments in landscape
gardening." The Trustees voted $8,000 and
appointed a Committee on Fountains (Bigelow,

Figure 3. The fountain at the Lawn. Note the Phillips
monianent on the left. Circa late 1860s.




Cheever and Austin) "to construct one or more
fountain jets at Mount Auburn." To put the
expenditure of $8,000 in perspective, consider that in
1860 the income from the sale of lots was $21,000
and the Gatekeeper earned $400 yearly. By the end
of 1860 the work was well underway.

Bigelow proudly described the details. A well 26
feet deep and 24 feet in diameter was dug at the
lowest part of the grounds on the eastern side. A
reservoir was built on the highest hill near the
Tower. A pipe (1,740 feet long) made of iron and
cement was laid underground from the well to the
reservoir. An engine-house was built near the well,
and a steam engine and pump, capable of raising
300-400 gallons per minute, was purchased. The
engine had "an advantage peculiarly adapting it to
the place, that it operates quietly and without noise."

Two fountains were built. One was in Auburn
Lake. When the reservoir was full, water was
thrown by gravity to the height of about 100 feet
above the surface of the lake. The second, a smaller
but highly picturesque fountain, was installed in the
Lawn between the Front Gate and the Chapel. Water
passed through a branch pipe from the main near
the bridge at Auburn Lake, under the new receiving
tomb set into Indian Ridge, along the bottom of the
culvert for nearly the whole length of Fountain
Avenue and into a paved circular basin in the Lawn.
The engine at the pump house near Auburn Lake
worked a few hours each morning to fill the hilltop
reservoir, With this supply of water, the fountain in
the Lawn played with clear water during the whole
day. Water from the basin ran through the culvert
under Fountain Avenue back to Auburn Lake.

In 1861 Lawn Avenue was extended on the north
side to surround the fountain with a circular carriage
way. The area containing the fountain was formally
reserved from any future development as burial
space, but the land between Lawn Avenue and the
main road was raised four feet and laid out for very
desirable lots, some selling for "advanced prices."

The 1860-1870s

In these decades, greater emphasis was placed on
flowering plants. Improved greenhouse facilities
were built at the Cemetery. In 1866 a new
propagating house for plants was constructed
adjoining the greenhouses which were then located
in the area between Mount Auburn and Brattle
streets, and the Superintendent reported that the
experience of raising plants and flowers was found
both acceptable to the Proprietors and remunerative
to the Corporation. In 1871 and 1873 additional
greenhouses were built. Images from the 1870s show
us a series of elaborate patterned planting beds, so
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Figure 4, The fountain and pool at the Lawn. The tall
First Corps of Cadets monument is just right of center.
Circa 1870s.

popular at this time, surrounding the fountain. Six
paths radiate from the basin area, and a circular path
surrounds the Lawn.

In 1867 the First Corps of Cadets monument was
erected in remembrance of those who died in the
Civil War. (See Figure 4.) There are no burials in this
lot, but many of the men remembered on the
monument are buried elsewhere in the Cemetery.
The Handbook for Cambridge and Mount Auburn (13th
edition, 1873) calls attention to this monument,
noting that is opposite the "American Garden." (See
Figure 5.)

The 1890s - 1930s

In the early summer of 1890 lighting glanced off a
tree and shattered the underground pipe system that
had been installed in the 1860s. In 1890-91 a
completely new system of cast-iron pipe was
installed. Apparently the basin and plantings in the
Lawn were changed when the new pipe system was

Figure 5. Workmen tending the " American Garden" at
the Lawn. Circa late 1870s.
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